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West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
 
Narrative Report to the Annual Accounts 2017/18 
 
Introduction 
 
The Narrative Report has been prepared to provide an outline of the activities for the year 
2017/18, providing both a guide to West Yorkshire Combined Authority's accounts and to 
its achievement in delivering growth through transport and economic development and 
regeneration as well as setting out the economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources in doing so.   

The West Yorkshire Combined Authority came into being on 1 April 2014 by virtue of the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 864/2014 (the 2014 Order).  At the same time, 
the West Yorkshire Integrated Transport Authority (WYITA) and the West Yorkshire 
Passenger Transport Executive (WYPTE) were dissolved.  All of the functions, assets, 
liabilities and powers of WYITA and WYPTE were transferred to the Combined Authority 
under the provisions of the 2014 Order.  The Combined Authority is now the Local 
Transport Authority for West Yorkshire and also has power to exercise economic 
development and regeneration functions in conjunction with the District Councils of West 
Yorkshire.  The Combined Authority also includes as members the leader of the City of 
York Council and the Chair of the Leeds City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  
The Combined Authority has established a Transport Committee, through which it conducts 
the majority of Local Transport Authority functions, and an Investment Committee which 
provides strategic guidance in relation to the investment in and funding of transport and 
economic development schemes. Membership of the Combined Authority committees is 
drawn from all District Councils within West Yorkshire, together with City of York Council. 

These are the fourth set of annual accounts for the Combined Authority, and the third since 
it took over accountability for the activities of the Leeds City Region LEP.  

Responsibilities 

The Combined Authority’s vision is ‘We want Leeds City Region to be recognised globally 
as a strong, successful economy where everyone can build great businesses, careers and 
lives.’  The Combined Authority is the guiding organisation behind this collective vision, 
working to ensure it, with local councils and businesses, is delivering economic prosperity 
with a high quality of life, supported by world-class connectivity.   

With regard to transport the Combined Authority fulfils the functions of the local transport 
authority and is responsible for determining public transport policies in West Yorkshire, 
operating the concessionary travel scheme and producing the statutory local transport plan. 

With regard to the economy the Combined Authority is the accountable body for the Leeds 
City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  The LEP determines the policies and 
strategies to drive the economic growth and regeneration agenda with the Combined 
Authority ensuring funding is properly managed to ensure delivery of the interventions 
required to achieve the growth targets. 

The Combined Authority has an important role to play in providing the vehicle for closer 
partnership working between the local authorities of West Yorkshire and York and the LEP 
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in order to ensure improved economic outcomes for local people.  It focuses on the areas 
that make the most sense to deliver at the city region level.  

Review of the year 

2017/18 is the fourth year of business for the Combined Authority and the third which fully 
includes the activities and funding of the Leeds City Region LEP.  The Combined Authority 
and LEP Boards have agreed the vision for the City Region which is set out in the Strategic 
Economic Plan (SEP) that reflects the current economic case and takes account of the 
local and national situation. 

The SEP is endorsed by both the Combined Authority and the LEP, sets out an agenda of 
economic growth for West Yorkshire that would improve the quality of life for its residents.  
This will only be achieved through working closely together with the constituent local 
councils and other public bodies. Work is underway to produce a Local Inclusive Industrial 
Strategy that further develops the SEP ambitions. 

The statutory Local Transport Plan, covering the period 2011-2026, has been substantially 
redrafted and following full public consultation was approved in August 2017 as the West 
Yorkshire Transport Strategy. 

During 2017/18 the focus for the Combined Authority has been on three key themes. Firstly, 
work has progressed on a ‘One Organisation’ transformation programme that focuses on 
bringing together the right skills and organisational structures to achieve the Combined 
Authority priorities.  Secondly, there has been a focus on delivering at pace the projects 
and services that support the Combined Authority priorities. Thirdly there has been a focus 
on ensuring that all the Combined Authority activities are contributing towards good or 
inclusive growth that sees benefits for everyone in the City Region. 

Key achievements are set out below. 

Made our economy stronger by helping businesses grow and attracting new 
investment: 

• 2,200 businesses supported to grow and become more productive through our 
LEP Growth Service in partnership with our partner councils.  

• £6.5 million worth of grants provided to help over 200 small and medium-sized 
enterprises (SMEs) grow and create jobs 

• #1 location in the North for overseas investment, supported by the role our Trade 
and Investment team has played in attracting new companies such as Burberry 
to the region 

• 430 enquiries from potential investors received as a result of Leeds City Region’s 
presence at the MIPIM global property conference in recent years – supported 
by us and majority funded by the private sector. 

• #4sparks – our campaign to persuade Channel 4 to come to Leeds City Region 
has cemented the region’s reputation as a leading centre for digital and screen 
industries 

• 2 new incubation and innovation centres started on site to help businesses 
innovate and grow – the Nexus innovation centre at the University of Leeds and 
the Huddersfield Innovation and Incubation Project  
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• Powering future growth in Wakefield: OE Electrics, a manufacturer and 
distributor of electrical equipment, has doubled the size of its operations in 
Wakefield thanks to support from the LEP and Combined Authority, leading to 
the creation of 144 local jobs. 

 Invested in our future workforce:  

• 4 new, state-of-the-art college facilities opened thanks to our Growth Deal 
funding: the Northern Dental Education Centre (NORDEC) in Bradford, the 
Advanced Skills and Innovation Centre at Wakefield College, a new 
apprenticeship training centre at Selby and the new Printworks campus at Leeds 
City College.  

• 3 additional college developments started on site, including the Dewsbury 
Learning Quarter in Kirklees, Leeds College of Building and Leeds City College’s 
Quarry Hill campus 

• 16,800 interactions between employers and young people in school organised 
this year as a result of our Enterprise Adviser programme  

• 4,000 apprenticeship opportunities across the city region created for 16-24 year 
olds from our apprenticeship grant for employers over the past two years 

• Training the next generation of dentists: NORDEC, the Northern Dental 
Education Centre, opened at Bradford College last September thanks to Growth 
Deal investment. It is set to train 1,000 dental health professionals in the next 
four years. 

Connected people to jobs, education and opportunity:  

• £18 million investment in providing vital bus links for communities  across West 
Yorkshire that wouldn’t otherwise have had a bus services 

• 640 people have benefitted from funded cycling training for commuters, 
employers, jobseekers and apprentices 

• £56 million invested in providing affordable bus travel for young people and 
people over retirement age 

• 200,000 people now travel around the region using our MCard smartcard every 
week, and this year we’ve made it even easier to use with a new android app and 
self-service ticket machines in bus and train stations 

• £1 million invested in measures to speed up buses at congestion hotspots 
across West Yorkshire thanks to our Bus18 partnership with bus operators. 
Following feedback from young people, we have also removed the need for 
school pupils to show a half fare pass if they’re wearing their school uniform 

• 100,000 people used our Metro-branded bus stations daily 
• 33 access buses operated across West Yorkshire to help older and disabled 

people live more independent lives 
• Connecting communities: Our tendered bus services have continued to 

provide a lifeline for communities over the past year. A minibus service 
introduced by the Combined Authority has helped communities in Knottingley to 
access local shops and services in Pontefract. 
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Improved our transport network:  

• 2,500 new homes are set to be built in Wakefield thanks to our Transport Fund 
investment in the Wakefield Eastern Relief Road which opened last June 

• £10.9 million invested in building Low Moor station in Bradford – the third new 
train station we’ve opened in West Yorkshire in 16 months, improving links 
between Bradford, Halifax, Leeds, York and Manchester 

• #1 in the Northern Transport awards for three of our transport projects: Kirkstall 
Forge train station in Leeds, the Beacons ticketless bus travel scheme which 
won the “excellence in technology” award and, with Leeds and Bradford Councils 
- the CityConnect Cycle Superhighway – the longest segregated cycleway in 
the country, linking these two major Yorkshire cities   

• £173.5 million secured from the Department of Transport in partnership with 
Leeds City Council for the #ConnectingLeeds programme which will transform 
the city’s bus service, expand Park and Ride provision and develop proposals for 
three new train stations 

• 20,000 new jobs set to be created in Leeds City Region as a result of HS2. We’ve 
continued to lobby for increased investment in our region’s transport network 
over the past year through our participation in Transport for the North, ensuring 
stops in Bradford, Leeds and York were included in plans for the new high-speed 
Northern Powerhouse Rail line when they were published in February 

• 2 new strategies adopted setting out how we will work with partners to improve 
our overall transport network and our bus system. This is alongside a new 
masterplan for Leeds station in preparation for HS2 arriving, and an overall HS2 
Growth Strategy setting out how we and our partners will maximise the benefits 
of high-speed rail for local people and communities. 

• The route to new homes and employment in Wakefield: the Wakefield 
Eastern Relief Road was the first project funded by our £1bn Transport Fund to 
be completed in June 2017. It provides a new link between key housing and 
employment sites, and has opened up access for 2,500 new homes in the city. 

Improved air quality and protected our environment:  

• 10,000 car journeys per week taken out of Leeds city centre following the opening 
of the new Temple Green Park and Ride last summer – our second park and ride 
delivered in partnership with Leeds City Council 

• £23.5 million investment made in new, low-emission buses by bus operators, 
Arriva and First West Yorkshire, thanks to our Bus18 partnership 

• £3 million Growth Deal investment made in new flood defences in Leeds city 
centre 

• 500,000 cups of tea = the equivalent energy saved by businesses benefitting 
from reduced energy bills thanks to the LEP’s Resource Efficiency Fund 

• £2.9 million Growth Deal funding invested in tackling fuel poverty across Leeds 
City Region 

• 600 households benefitted from reduced energy bills thanks to improvements 
made through the Better Homes Yorkshire programme 

• Manufacturer halves energy bills: As a result of resource efficiency funding 
from the Combined Authority and LEP, specialist manufacturer Leeds 
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Galvanising and Powder Coating Ltd has halved its energy costs for compressed 
air, saving £10,000 a year. The company has also reduced its CO2 emissions by 
60 tonnes per year. 

Secured extra funding and powers for our region 

• £320,000 secured for a sixth phase of our One Public Estate programme to 
develop housing and social care projects in Dewsbury, Halifax and Harrogate 

• £660,000 secured from the Government’s Land Release Fund to bring forward 
new housing on smaller, council-owned sites 

• £1 million secured as a result of a successful submission to Government ahead 
of the Budget, enabling us to continue supporting businesses through the LEP 
Growth Service until 2020 

• £4.2 million secured to retrofit buses in West Yorkshire to reduce emissions and 
improve air quality. 

Transforming the organisation 

Over the past two years we have been transforming our organisation to ensure it is in 
the best possible place to deliver the investment for which we are now responsible and 
be “mayor ready” ahead of any devolution deal to the region.  

This organisational transformation will continue to be a priority for us during the coming 
year and beyond. 

The changes we have made already include: 

• Bringing three former separate bodies – the passenger transport body, Metro, 
the LEP team and the region’s inward investment and marketing teams – into a 
single, completely restructured and streamlined organisation supporting 
both the LEP Board and the Combined Authority 

• Strengthening governance and accountability so that all of our committees 
now meet in public – including webcasting our Combined Authority meetings, 
taking measures to make the LEP the most transparent local enterprise 
partnership in the country and taking proactive measures to respond to 
Government’s review of local enterprise partnerships nationally 

• Introducing new values and behaviours with our employees to ensure we are 
even more focused on results, accountability, being easy to do business with and 
working together in partnership 

• Learning lessons from the past – and continually striving to improve 
• Ensuring all projects and decisions are supported by a robust business case.  
• Creating our portfolio management office (PMO) to put in place a robust 

approach to ensuring the right projects are delivered on time and on budget, 
and support our partners to bring forward good quality schemes for funding 

• Improving our processes and systems to help us take informed decisions in 
the most efficient way, and tackling historic underinvestment  

• Strengthening our relationships with our partners, including meeting face to 
face with all local council groups in West Yorkshire and York and launching a 
monthly eNews for partners, so that we can do more together more effectively 
on behalf of the region 
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• Introducing a new brand identity for our organisation to save money and make 
it easier for our partners and the public to understand what we do. 

The general economic outlook continues to be difficult with the public sector continuing to 
face funding challenges.  The revenue funding for many of the Combined Authority’s 
activities comes from the West Yorkshire local authorities, with further contributions from 
them and the other LEP authorities for some of the economic activities.  All areas of the 
budget are reviewed as part of the One Organisation Programme to ensure that resources 
are focussed on the organisational priorities.  Recognising the pressure on local authority 
budgets the Combined Authority has agreed a further cut in the transport levy for 2018/19 
and plans are progressing on the detail of how the agreed savings and cuts can be 
delivered.  The Combined Authority still has significant capital funding through the Growth 
Deal, the Local Transport Plan funding and the Leeds Public Transport Infrastructure 
Programme amongst others and further work will be undertaken during 2018/19 to ensure 
the most effective use is being made of all the capital and revenue income streams 
available to the Combined Authority, with the focus being the delivery of the objectives and 
outcomes as set out in the SEP. 
 
Meeting the challenges and opportunities ahead… 

An important focus of our work over the next year and beyond will be to ensure we are 
prioritising the right issues to enable our region to meet the opportunities and 
challenges of the coming years head-on. 

• Boosting productivity: closing the gap between Leeds City Region’s 
productivity rate and the UK average could add £10 billion to our economy, 
creating thousands more skilled jobs. We will focus on boosting business 
productivity, innovation and growth – particularly in fast-growing sectors such 
as tech – to drive up economic growth and living standards. 

• Enabling inclusive growth: as economies globally look to tackle inequality, we 
aim to be a leader in promoting inclusive economic growth that benefits 
everyone. Alongside this, we will continue our efforts to improve air quality and 
minimise the impact of climate change on communities and businesses. 

• Delivering 21st Century transport: we will ensure that major transport 
schemes such as HS2, Northern Powerhouse Rail and improvements to the 
Trans-Pennine and East Coast main lines are delivered and benefit all parts of 
our region. We will transform how we deliver publicly supported transport for 
people in the city region. 

• Devolution: we will continue to support local politicians’ efforts to secure a 
devolution deal that ensures our region can continue investing in those issues 
that make people’s lives better. We will also continue our efforts to attract 
government and business investment to the region, including a significant share 
of the UK Prosperity Fund to replace European funding. 

• Delivery – we will continue to deliver our £1bn Growth Deal and £1bn 
Transport Fund, ensuring the right projects are delivered on time and on 
budget. We will also continue to modernise our organisation, ensuring we’re in 
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the best possible place to respond to the opportunity of devolution and saving 
money through innovative new approaches to delivering services. 

The accounts 

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with The Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting UK 2017/18 which is based on approved International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The 
financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance 
with applicable accounting standards. The accounts consist of the following:- 

The Accounting Policies which explain the basis for the recognition, measurement and 
disclosure of transactions and other events in the accounts. This includes the basis of 
charges to revenue and the calculation of balance sheet items. 

The Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts. 

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement which shows the net cost for 
the current year of all the services for which the Authority is responsible and demonstrates 
how that cost has been financed. 

The Movement in Reserves Statement reconciles the outturn on the income and 
expenditure account to the balance on the General Fund that is established by complying 
with the relevant statutory provisions.  It facilitates a full presentation of the financial 
performance of the Authority for the year. 

The Balance Sheet shows the Combined Authority's assets and liabilities. 

The Cash Flow Statement summarises the inflows and outflows of cash arising from 
transactions with other parties for revenue and capital purposes. 

The Annual Governance Statement is not part of the Statement of Accounts but is 
required to be provided with them. It provides information regarding the system of internal 
control during the financial year and covers the effectiveness of this for the Combined 
Authority. 

Following the IFRS Based Code requirements means that the Combined Authority has a 
significant liability arising from the requirements of IAS19 Accounting for Pension Costs. 
This requires the Combined Authority to show in their accounts any deficit arising on their 
proportion of the West Yorkshire Pension Fund obligations as measured by the Actuary. 
Whilst this is in accordance with the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 it is offset by a negative Pensions Reserve. However, the impact of the deficit is long 
term and action is being taken to address it in accordance with the Actuary's projections. 



8 
 

2017/18 2017/18
Approved Budget Actual

£m £m
Funding
Special Rail Grant 0.9 0.9              
LEP General Funding 1.2 1.2              
Growing Places Fund Interest 0.2 0.2              
Enterprise Zone Receipts 0.7 0.7              
Transport levy applied 95.2 95.2            
Transfer from reserves 3.5 1.9              

101.7 100.1           

Revenue Expenditure
Transport Services:
Concessionary Fares 56.0          55.7            
Subsidised Bus Services 18.2          19.1            
Passenger Services 7.4            7.0              
Rail SRG spend 0.9            0.9              
Economic Services 1.3            1.4              
Policy, Strategy and Communications 3.5            4.0              
Resources
Pension&Financing Charges 7.9            7.8              
Corporate inc one organisation 6.6            4.1              

101.7        100.1           

Review of Revenue Expenditure for the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority

 

The presentation above reflects the format in which the original budget was approved by 
the Combined Authority and provides a useful analysis of expenditure for the users of the 
accounts. The transfer to reserves figure is the same irrespective of the presentation 
adopted.  This figure is lower than budgeted due to a number of savings being realised 
across the operational areas and increased capitalisation.  

Revenue funding 

The Combined Authority’s expenditure was met by a levy on the five constituent District 
Councils (Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees, Leeds and Wakefield) and contributions from 
them and the LEP authorities for the economic activities.  Funding is also received from 
government in support of LEP core costs and to fund business and skills activities, such as 
grants to businesses for apprentices.  In 2017/18 grant income of £918k was received from 
Central Government to cover the administrative costs of managing the rail franchises.  
Since 1 April 2016 rail franchise payments have been paid via Rail North and not via the 
Combined Authority.  Grants formerly received directly from central Government towards 
the costs of the English National Concessionary Travel Scheme and rural bus services are 
now paid to the District Councils as part of the revenue support grant. Income from the LEP 
Enterprise Zones accrues to the Combined Authority and a sum of £0.7m has been 
accounted for in 2017/18, with this set to rise as more businesses locate to the Enterprise 
Zones. 
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In 2006/07 the government introduced free local bus travel for senior citizens and disabled 
passengers and funded this through increases to the revenue support grant provided to 
the constituent District Councils.  There was an uneven distribution between Districts and 
the levy was issued to adjust for this with any excess being returned to the Districts. This 
agreement has subsequently been continued and the transport levy shown in the accounts 
for 2017/18 is the net amount. 

Revenue expenditure 

The net Levy available for normal transport purposes was reduced by £1m as that paid to 
the Combined Authority in 2017/18. The amount set aside for the West Yorkshire plus 
Transport Fund (WY+TF) remained at the same level of £5m.  This is in addition to the 
amounts set aside in previous years for this purpose, demonstrating the local commitment 
to establishing the WY+TF. 

The reduction in the levy for normal transport purposes has only been possible as a result 
of the approach taken by the Combined Authority to ongoing cost reductions.  This includes 
the continued and successful reduction in costs of tendered bus services, along with the 
changes to the reimbursement of discretionary concessionary fares. As well as these other 
efficiency savings have continued to be pursued. 

Funding awarded for economic services is managed through the LEP Growth Service and 
focuses on helping local businesses to grow, and to address skills shortages at all levels.  

In common with local government across England, the Combined Authority expects to face 
challenging financial constraints over the coming years.  Previous years have seen 
significant amounts taken out of the concessions and tendered services budgets through 
a managed process which has seen much of the cost picked up by the operators but further 
opportunities for savings on this scale are not achievable without considering the policies 
driving these areas. Work is underway on a challenging programme of review to these 
services to enable a balanced medium term financial strategy to be achieved. 
Concessionary reimbursement remains the largest single element of the budget and from 
1 April 2017 operators were reimbursed on the basis of smartcard data rather than survey 
information which will give earlier visibility of costs but may introduce an element of volatility 
to payment profiles.   

Capital expenditure 

Total capital expenditure in the year was £145m (please see note 20), funded through a 
combination of income streams but primarily grants from the Department for Transport and 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (in relation to the Growth 
Deal).  These included the LTP Integrated Transport block funding and highways 
maintenance grant totalling £52m which is then utilised by the Combined Authority and the 
constituent District Councils. The Combined Authority also applied capital grants for the 
Cycle City Ambition scheme of £13.9m.  Funding will be carried forward to 2018/19 
enabling committed schemes and projects to be delivered despite changes in the timing of 
delivery. 

The Growth Deal funding of £72m received for 2017/18 has been applied to £85m of 
projects within the programme. An overspend in year on the Growth Deal has been 
accounted from capital grants unapplied in previous years. 
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The significant capital schemes delivered in the year are set out in the above narrative and 
as well as these there have also been investments in ICT, new bus shelters, contributions 
to highways schemes and contributions to rail schemes and carparks and further 
investment in smartcard technology.  

Treasury management 

The Combined Authority has continued to follow its approved treasury management policy. 
Changes to this policy have been made during the year to enable the Combined Authority 
to better manage its increasing cash balances. There has been significantly more income 
received in the year with the trend set to continue, as a result of the Combined Authority 
taking on the responsibility of accountable body for funding awarded to the LEP. This has 
resulted in fixed deposits of £132m being invested as at 31 March 2018. 

The Combined Authority’s long term borrowing remains at £75m at the end of 2017/18. The 
Combined Authority’s borrowing requirement is increasing over coming years, reflecting 
the capital programme approved on 1st February 2018.  This will be periodically reviewed 
as the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund and other activities of the Combined Authority 
are further developed. 

Statement on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of Combined Authority in 
its use of resources  

The Combined Authority in line with other public sector bodies, has always been mindful of 
the requirement to demonstrate value for money in its activities.  This value for money can 
be described in terms of the ‘three Es’ of economy i.e. careful use of resources to save 
expense, time or effort, efficiency i.e. delivering the same level of service for less cost, time 
or effort and effectiveness i.e. delivering a better service or getting a better return for the 
same amount of expense, time or effort.  

Previous sections of this narrative statement have set out the work that has been 
undertaken to understand the revenue budgets and levy and contributions funding these 
activities.  For 2017/18 a cut to the transport levy was agreed with the Combined Authority 
agreeing to seek to reduce expenditure on bus services and other operational transport 
services.  This will involve considering the policies that drive the supported bus network 
and whether these are still fully aligned with the objectives and policies of the SEP.   

Investment in infrastructure projects is driven by the SEP which sets out the outcomes 
required to create good growth in the region.  All projects are subject to the Single Appraisal 
Framework (SAF) which tests the robustness of each scheme in the pipeline to ensure it 
performs best against the Combined Authority objectives than other comparable schemes.  
An assurance framework, reviewed annually by the Combined Authority and by the 
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, supports the Growth Deal 
investments; this has been substantially updated during the year and is utilised as part of 
the project approval pathways in place.  These pathways assist in ensuring a robust 
evaluation of any project against strategic fit along with a financial and economic appraisal.  

The appointment of a Managing Director to the Combined Authority in February 2016 set 
in process a review of the structure and processes at the Combined Authority.  The 
corporate plan for 2017/18 was closely linked to the aims of the SEP and a clear vision, 
mission, objectives and outcomes for the Combined Authority have been developed.  Clear 
and measurable targets and outcomes for key priorities were identified and included in the 
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corporate plan with key performance targets being measured regularly.  Organisational 
changes will complement this enhanced focus. 

Further Information 

The Combined Authority’s accounts can also be supplied in large print, Braille or audiotape.  
Anyone wanting these options should contact the Combined Authority on 0113 251 7227. 

Further information on the Combined Authority is available on its website www.westyorks-

ca.gov.uk 

Address: Wellington House, 40/50 Wellington Street, Leeds LS1 2DE 

Telephone for general enquiries:  0113 251 7272 

Metroline for travel enquiries etc: 0113 245 7676 

Business Growth Team : 0113 348 1818 

 





















22 
 

 

2017-18 Useable
General Capital Capital WY Total Capital Financial

Fund Grants Receipt Rail Transport NGT Usable Adjustment Instruments Revaluation Donated Pension Unusable
Note Balance Unapplied Reserve Reserve Fund Reserve reserves Account Adj A/C Reserve Asset A/C Reserve reserves Total

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Balance at 1st April 2017 7,102          73,608      -             2,075      21,933    971         105,688   13,023 (1,623) 12,927 668 (72,384) (47,389) 58,299
Transfer of balances 1 April 2017
Movement in reserves during 
2017/18
Surplus on Provision of Service 18,883 - - - - - 18,883 - - - - - -               18,883      
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability 7 - - - - - - 0 - - - - (935) (935) (935)
Net increase in liability on disposal/aquistn - - - - - - 0 - - - - -               -                 
Revaluation of non-current assets 11,22 - - - - - - 0 - - 862 - - 862         862           
Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 18,883 -                 -                 -              -              -              18,883 -                 -                 862           -            (935) (73) 18,810

Adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under regs
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 3 (3,254) - - - - (3,254) 3,254 - - - - 3,254 -            
Finance costs early settlement discounts 6 76 - - - - 76 - (76) - - - (76) -            
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (Re 22 141,208 - - - - 141,208 (141,208) - - - - (141,208) -            
Capital grants applied 22 (143,888) - (967) - (144,855) 144,855 - - - - 144,855 -            
Capital Grants unapplied 22 (14,658) 14,658 - - - -                - - - - -               -            
Depreciation 11 4,675 - - - - 4,675 (4,675) - - - - (4,675) -            
Transfer W/down of Soft Loans (126) - - - - (126) 126 - - - 126 -            
Transfer to pension reserve 7 1,427 - - - - 1,427       - - - (1,427) (1,427) -            
GPF loan repayments 1,557 1,557 (1,557) (1,557) -            
Transfer contribution of completed capital projects to UCR (59) 59 -                -               -            
Asset disposal profir/(loss) 7 - 593 - - - 600 (600) - - - - (600) -            
Total adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under regs (14,592) 14,658 1,242 -              -              -              1,308 69 50 -                 -            (1,427) (1,308) -                 

Increase/ (decrease) in year before
Transfer to ear-marked reserve 4,291 14,658 1,242 0 0 0 20,191 69 50 862 0 (2,362) (1,381) 18,810
Transfer to ear-marked reserve (6,176) - - - 6,176 -                - - - - - - -
Increase/ (decrease) in year (1,885) 14,658 1,242 0 6,176 0 20,191 69 50 862 0 (2,362) (1,381) 18,810

Balance at 31st March 2018 5,217 88,266 1,242 2,075 28,109 971 125,880 13,092 (1,573) 13,789 668 (74,746) (48,770) 77,110

Useable WY Total Capital Financial Total
2016-17 General Capital Capital Rail Transport NGT Usable Adjustment Instruments Revaluation Donated Pension Unusable Total

Note Fund Grants Receipt Reserve Fund Reserve reserves Account Adj A/C Reserve Asset A/C Reserve reserves
Balance Unapplied Reserve £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
£000's £000's £000's

Balance at 1st April 2016 9,831 37,577 - 2,075 16,230 989 66,702 8,631 (1,036) 12,329 668 (61,162) (40,570) 26,132
Transfer of balances 1 April 2016
Movement in reserves during 
2016/17
Surplus on Provision of Service 41,969 41,969 -          41,969
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability 7 -           (10,401) (10,401) (10,401)
Net increase in liability on disposal/aquistn -           -                 -               -                 
Revaluation of non-current assets 11,22 -           596 596 596
Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 41,969 -            -             -          -          -          41,969 -            -             596 -         (10,401)  (9,805) 32,164

Adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under regs
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 3 (3,389) (3,389) 3,389 3,389 -            
Finance costs early settlement discounts 6 76 76 (76) (76) -            
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (Re 22 139,336 139,336 (139,336) (139,336) -            
Capital grants applied 3,22 (146,986) (18) (147,004) 147,004 147,004 -            
Capital Grants unapplied 22 (36,031) 36,031 -           -               -            
Depreciation 11 4,917 4,917 (4,917) (4,917) -            
Transfer W/down of Soft Loans 512 512 (512) (512) -            
Transfer to pension reserve 7 821 821 (821) (821) -            
Asset Held For Sale Revaluation loss 50 50 (50)  (50)
Impairment GPF Loans 1,698 1,698 (1,698)  (1,698) -            
Total adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under regs (38,996) 36,031 -             -          -          (18) (2,983) 4,392 (588) -            -        (821) 2,983 -            
Increase/ (decrease) in year before
Transfer to ear-marked reserve 2,973 36,031 -             -          -          (18) 38,986 4,392 (588) 596 -        (11,222) (6,822) 32,164
Transfer to ear-marked reserve (5,702) - - - 5,703 -           - - - - - - -
Increase/ (decrease) in year (2,729) 36,031 -             -          5,703 (18) 38,986 4,392 (588) 596 -        (11,222) (6,822) 32,164

Balance at 31st March 2017 7,102 73,608 - 2,075 21,933 971 105,688 13,023 (1,623) 12,927 668 (72,384) (47,392) 58,296

     

Movement in Reserves Statement 
The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement in the year on the different 
reserves held by the Combined Authority, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can b  
applied to fund expenditure) and ‘unusable reserves'. This category of reserves includes 
reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve, where 
amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold); and reserves 
that hold timing differences (for example the Capital Adjustment Account). The net surplus on 
provision of service shows the economic cost of providing the Combined Authority’s services 
and the provision of grants to fund the introduction of capital assets, more details of which are 
shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
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Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure statement shows the accounting cost in the 
year of providing services in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
("IFRS") adopted by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2017/18 and the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

2016/17 2017/18

 Gross 
Expenditure 

 Gross 
Income 

 Net 
Expenditure 

 Gross 
Expenditure 

 Gross 
Income 

 Net 
Expenditure 

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
Notes

224,628 (57,569) 167,059 Transport Services 220,390 (47,794) 172,596

72,327 (9,211) 63,116 Economic Services 61,547 (6,186) 55,361

280 - 280 Policy, Strategy & Communications 4,353 (314) 4,039

- - - Delivery 2,907 (2,883) 24

8,683 (2) 8,681 Resources 7,826 (3,089) 4,737

305,918 (66,782) 239,136 Net cost of services 297,023 (60,266) 236,757

3,241 - 3,241 Interest Payable 6 3,222 -                        3,222

- (1,384) (1,384) Interest and Investment income 6 -                      (1,138) (1,138)

Net interest on the pension defined
1,954 -                    1,954 benefit liability 7 1,716 - 1,716              

(Gain) or loss on disposal of assets 7 - 7                      

311,113 (68,166) 242,947 Net Expenditure after financing and investment 301,968 (61,404) 240,564

Non-Specific Grant Income

- (101,900) (101,900) District Council Levies 12 -                      (100,900) (100,900)

- (183,016) (183,016)  Government and Other Grants  (Capital) 9 -                      (158,547) (158,547)

311,113 (353,082) (41,969) (Surplus) on Provision of Services 301,968 (320,851) (18,883)

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 
- 10,401 10,401 liability 7 -                      935 935

- - - Deficit/(Surplus) on Revaluation - - -
Net increase in pension liability from disposal/

- - -                      acquisitions - - -

- (596) (596) Surplus on revaluation of non -current assets 11,22 -                      (862) (862)

-                     9,805 9,805 Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure -                      73 73 

(32,164) Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (18,810)
 

* Delivery Directorate was set up from 1st April 2017, as part of the CA’s One Organisational Programme. 
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31 March 2017 £000s notes
Non-current assets

81,885 Property, plant and equipment 79,792 11(d)
23,654 Long-term debtors 23,633 17

105,539 103,425
Current assets

600 Assets held for sale - 11(b)
98,274 Short term investment 133,088 21
26,310 Short term debtors 26,230 15
42,475 Cash and cash equivalents 42,891 16

167,659 202,209
Current liabilities

(1,553) Short term borrowing (1,048) 19
(51,565) Trade and Other payables (51,881) 18
(14,207) Accruals and deferred income (25,653) 18

(189) Provisions for current liabilities (196) 23

(67,514) (78,778)
205,684 Total assets less current liabilities 226,856

Long-term liabilities
(75,000) Long-term borrowing (75,000) 19,21

(72,384) Net pensions liability (74,746) 7

(147,384) (149,746)
58,300 Total assets less liabilities 77,110

Financed by

7,102 General Fund Reserve 5,217
- Usable Capital Receipts Reserve 1,242

73,608 Capital grants unapplied 88,266 22
2,075 Rail Reserve 2,075 22

971 NGT Reserve 971 22
21,933 WY Transport fund Reserve 28,109 22

105,689 Usable reserves 125,880

13,023 Capital Adjustment Account 13,092 22
(1,623) Financial Instruments Adjustment Account (1,573) 22

(72,384) Pensions Reserve (74,746) 22
12,927 Revaluation Reserve 13,789 22

668 Donated Asset Account 668 11(c)

(47,389) Unusable reserves (48,770)

58,300 Total reserves and balances 77,110

31 March 2018

Balance Sheet 
The balance sheet is the key statement of the Combined Authority’s financial position at 
the year-end. It shows its balances and reserves, and the values of its long term and 
current assets and liabilities. 

 



25 
 

 

 

2016/17 £000s 2017/18
Operating activities :

41,969 Surplus on the Provision of Service 18,883
4,917 Depreciation 11d 4,675
2,287 Write down of loans (126)

28,769 Increase in creditors 17,18 12,135
(8,815) (Increase)/decrease in debtors 15,21 426

821 Transfer to the Pension Reserve 22 1,427
15 Provisions 23 6
50 Asset Held For Sale revaluation loss 11b -

- (Profit)/Loss from disposal of assets 11b 7
858 Fixed assets charged to revenue 11d 1,016

70,871    Net cash generated from operating activities 38,449

Cash flows from investing activities
(4,094) Purchase of property, plant & equipment, 11d (2,736)
(6,830) New long term debtor loans advanced 17 (1,928)

(28,000) Short term investment 21 (34,750)
- Proceeds from the sale of property, plant & equipment 11b 600

(38,923) Net cash flows from investing activities (38,814)

Cash flows from financing activities
- Receipt of new loans -

(4,019) Repayment of loans 19 (505)
2,145 Receipt of Debtor Loan repayments 17 1,286

(1,873) Net cash used from financing activities 781

30,075 Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 416

12,400 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 42,475

42,475 Cash and cash equivalents at end of reporting period 16 42,891

Cash Flow Statement 
The cashflow statement is a financial statement that shows changes in balance sheet 
account and income after cash and cash equivalents,and breaks the analysis down to 
operating, investing and financing activities. Essentially, the cashflow statement is 
concerned with the flow of cash in and cash out of the business. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprises operational cash balances, cash at bank and short-
term bank deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand also form an integral 
part of the Combined Authority's cash management arrangements. Included in cash and 
cash equivalents is cash at bank held on behalf of third parties where the liability to repay 
these amounts is recognised under creditors. 
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Explanatory Notes to the Accounts 

 
1. Accounting Policies for the West Yorkshire Combined Authority 

I. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Combined Authority's transactions for the 
2017/18 financial year and its position for the year end of 31 March 2018. The 
Combined Authority is required to prepare an annual Statement of Accounts by the 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, in accordance with proper 
accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2017/18, supported by 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
Statement of Compliance with IFRS  
 
The following accounting standards have been issued but not yet adopted by the 
Code:  
 IFRS 9  Financial Instruments (Issued November 2017, Adoption 1 April 2018) 
 IFRS15  Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Issued May 2017, Adoption 1 Jan        
2017) 
 IFRS16  Leases (Issued Jan 16, Adoption 1 Jan 2019) 
Impact of these standards are considered not to be significant upon the organisation. 
The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally 
historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets 
and financial instruments. 
The statements are prepared on a going concern basis with the accounts being 
prepared on the assumption that the functions of the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
Accruals of income and expenditure 
 
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments 
are made or received. In particular: 

• Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Combined Authority 
transfers the significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser 
and it is probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with 
the transaction will flow to the Combined Authority. 

• Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Combined 
Authority can measure reliably the percentage of completion of the 
transaction and it is probable that economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the transaction will flow to the Combined Authority. 

• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where 
there is a gap between the date supplies are received and their 
consumption, they are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet. 
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• Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by 
employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received 
rather than when payments are made. 

• Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted 
for respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective 
interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows 
fixed or determined by the contract. 

• Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not 
been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is 
recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where debts may not be settled, the 
balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the 
income that might not be collected. 
 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 
 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires 
management to make certain assumptions, estimates and judgements that may affect 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These are based on 
historical experience and any other factors, including expectations of future events, 
that are considered appropriate, and these are continually reviewed. Subsequent 
actual results may however differ from these estimates and judgements. Areas where 
assumptions, estimates and judgements may give rise to adjustments to the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities in the financial year are as follows: 

• Property revaluation: the Combined Authority carries its non- infrastructure 
land and buildings at current value.  Periodically, external surveyors are used, 
and the last full independent survey was carried out as at 31 March 2015.  
Between independent surveys, reviews are carried out by internal but qualified 
staff. Such valuations and any attached estimates are subject to some 
judgement. A revaluation update of Non-Infrastructure Land and Buildings was 
undertaken by Lambert Smith Hampton as at 31 March 2018.      

• Leases: The Combined Authority has classified leases as either finance or 
operating leases based on the extent to which the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership lie with the lessee or lessor.  The Combined Authority has 
classified certain contracts as operating leases although the legal form of the 
arrangement is not a lease.  

• Retirement benefit obligations: the cost of defined benefit pension plans is 
determined using an independent actuarial valuation, involving the use of 
assumptions about discount rates, returns on assets, future salary increases, 
mortality rates, inflation and future pension increases. Such assumptions are 
reviewed at each period end, and determined jointly between the pension fund 
management and the actuaries 

 
II.      PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

• Infrastructure Assets and Plant and Equipment are stated at depreciated historical 
cost, net of accumulated impairment losses.  Non-Infrastructure Land and 
buildings are measured at current value which is Existing Use Value (EUV) where 
there is an active market or Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) where it relates 
to a specialised asset. Full valuations are performed at intervals of no more than 
five years to ensure that the value of a revalued asset does not differ materially 
from its carrying amount. A full revaluation of the Combined Authority’s Non-
Infrastructure Land and Buildings and the office building (Wellington House) was 
carried out by an MRICS qualified valuer of Lambert Smith Hampton, a firm of 
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external Chartered Surveyors. The revaluation was carried out as at 31 March 
2015 on an Existing Use Value (EUV) and Depreciated 

Replacement Cost (DRC) in accordance with IAS 16. A revaluation of the 
Authority's on-street furniture was carried out as at 31 March 2008, however under 
IFRS these are infrastructure assets and are valued at historical cost.     

• Infrastructure Assets and Plant and Equipment are recorded at original cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes 
professional fees and for assets constructed by the Combined Authority, any 
related works to the extent that these are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
construction of the asset. The gain or loss arising on disposal of an asset is 
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the asset and is recognised in the income statement. Subsequent costs are 
included in the carrying value of an asset when it is probable that additional future 
economic benefits will flow to the Combined Authority and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. All other repairs and renewals are charged to the income 
statement as incurred.      

• Depreciation or amortisation is provided so as to write off, on a straight-line basis, 
the cost of property, plant and equipment and intangible fixed assets including 
those held under finance leases. These charges are commenced from the dates 
the assets are available for their intended use and are spread over their estimated 
useful economic lives. The estimated useful lives of assets are reviewed regularly 
and, when necessary, revised. Accelerated depreciation or amortisation is 
provided where an asset is expected to become obsolete before the end of its 
normal useful life or if events or changes in circumstances indicate that an 
impairment loss needs to be recognised, as discussed below. No further charges 
are provided in respect of assets that are fully written down but are still in use. The 
estimated useful lives for the main categories of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets are:        

                    Freehold and Long Leasehold Buildings between 5 and 50 years 
                    On-street Furniture and Infrastructure 20 years 
                    Vehicles Between 4 and 16 years 
                    Plant and Equipment Between 4 and 10 years 
                    Office Furniture and Equipment Between 4 and 10 years 
 

• Freehold land, either at cost or valuation, is not depreciated. Management 
regularly considers whether there are any indications of impairment to carrying 
values of property, plant and equipment. Impairment reviews are based on risk 
adjusted discounted cash flow projections. Significant judgement is applied to the 
assumptions underlying these projections which include estimated discount rates, 
growth rates, future selling prices and direct costs. Changes to these assumptions 
could have a material impact on the financial position of the Combined Authority 
and on the result for the year. 

a) Progress payments for capital assets 
Progress payments for capital assets or schemes not yet completed are held in 
Work In Progress. The assets are transferred to the appropriate heading and are 
subject to depreciation when they become available for use. The Combined 
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Authority writes out directly attributable costs on capital schemes where no 
tangible asset exists to reflect a true and fair view of the asset base. 

b)     Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and 
fair value less costs to sell. Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying 
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing 
use. This is the case, when the asset is available for immediate sale in its present 
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such 
assets and the sale is considered to be highly probable. A sale is considered to be 
highly probable if the appropriate level of management is committed to a plan to 
sell the asset and an active programme to locate a buyer and complete the plan 
has been initiated.  

 
c)     Donated Assets 

Donated assets are assets that have been transferred to the Combined Authority 
at nil value or acquired at less than fair value. Donated assets are initially 
recognised at fair value at the date of acquisition. After initial recognition the 
donated assets will be revalued and depreciated in accordance with the Authority's 
revaluation and depreciation policy. A Donated Assets account recognises the 
benefit received from these assets where conditions apply to the assets use. 
         

III. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  

Discounted operations are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell. .Discontinued operations are classified as held for sale if their 
carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. This is the case, when the asset is available for immediate sale in its 
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of 
such assets and the sale is considered to be highly probable. A sale is considered to 
be highly probable if the appropriate level of management is committed to a plan to 
sell the asset and an active programme to locate a buyer and complete the plan has 
been initiated. 

IV. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions 
repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are 
highly liquid investments that mature in no more than three months or less from the 
date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value. 

V. CAPITAL RECEIPTS 

Capital receipts from the disposal of assets are treated in accordance with the 
provisions of the Local Government Act 2003. Capital receipts must be used to fund 
capital expenditure, to repay debt, or to fund credit arrangements, subject to the de 
minimis level set out in the relevant regulations (currently £10k). Capital receipts 
realised from the sale of land and buildings are fully usable. 
 

VI. REVENUE EXPENDITURE FINANCED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE  

 Expenditure incurred by the Combined Authority that may be capitalised under 
statutory provisions but does not result in the creation of a non-current asset (i.e. rail 
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infrastructure) is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure account. The 
Combined Authority meets this expenditure from existing capital resources with capital 
grants reversed against the expenditure charged to revenue so there is no impact on 
the revenue grant requirement. 

 
VII. CHARGES TO REVENUE 

For the Combined Authority depreciation has been shown as part of the service 
expenditure. The Combined Authority has considered the impairment of fixed assets 
in accordance with IAS 36 and no charges for impairment have been made. Such 
depreciation or impairment is then required by the Code to be credited in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement on the General Fund Balance to avoid it being a net 
charge to the accounts. Amounts set aside from revenue for the repayment of external 
loans are also shown separately through the Movement in Reserves Statement on the 
General Fund Balance. 
 

VIII. GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third 
party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Combined Authority 
when there is reasonable assurance that:  

-  The Combined Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the 
payments, and 

-    The grants or contributions will be received.  
 

Amounts recognised as due to the Combined Authority are not credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CI&ES) until conditions attached 
to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify 
that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset acquired 
using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as 
specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the 
transferor.  
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been 
satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, 
the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue 
grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (non-ring fenced 
revenue grants and all capital grants) in the CI&ES. 
 
Capital Grants 
Grants to fund capital expenditure from government and other bodies are credited to 
the CI&ES where the grant conditions have been met.  In order to recognise that the 
capital grants are provided to finance capital expenditure the grants are subsequently 
transferred from the General Fund to the Capital Adjustment Account.  If expenditure 
has not been incurred at the balance sheet date the grant is transferred to the Capital 
Grants Unapplied Account. 
The CI&ES will recognise capital grants to the extent that they offset capital 
expenditure charged directly to revenue (see policy V. above). 
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IX. INVESTMENTS 
Investments are shown on the Balance Sheet at amortised cost less provision, where 
appropriate, for loss in value. Investment income is credited to the revenue account 
when it falls due. 
 

X. RESERVES 
The General Fund Balance is a revenue reserve and transfers to and from the reserve 
are recognised through the Movement in Reserves Statement.  Expenditure is charged 
to revenue and not directly to the reserve. Other reserves (Capital Adjustment, 
Financial Instruments Adjustment, Revaluation, and Pension Reserves) are not 
available for revenue purposes and can only be used for specific statutory purposes. 
 

XI. PENSION COSTS 
The requirements of IAS19 "Retirement Benefits" have been fully adopted in the 
financial statements of the Authority. 
The Combined Authority is an employing authority within the West Yorkshire Pension 
Fund which is a funded deferred benefit pension scheme.  Most employees participate 
in this scheme which provides defined benefits payable to members on and after their 
retirement.  Contributions made to the Pension Fund for both current and past services 
are charged to the revenue account as they are paid.  Contribution levels are 
determined by the Pension Fund.  The Pension Fund is a statutorily established 
pension fund and the benefits are paid under the provisions of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. 
The Combined Authority has a continuing responsibility for any payments to the 
Pension Fund in respect of all staff who were transferred to Yorkshire Rider Limited 
(now First West Yorkshire) as a consequence of the Transport Act 1985.  The annual 
cost of this responsibility is to be charged to the revenue account. 
The liabilities of the Pension Fund attributable to the Combined Authority are included 
in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, i.e. an 
assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits 
earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employees 
turnover rates, etc., and projections of projected earnings for current employees. 
 
The assets of the pension fund attributable to the Combined Authority are included in 
the Balance Sheet at their fair value: 

  Quoted securities at current bid price 
  Unquoted securities based on professional estimate 
  Unitised securities at current bid price 
  Property at market value 
 

The change in the net pension’s liability is analysed into seven components: 
Current service costs - the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned 
this year - allocated in the CI&ES to the services for which the employee worked; 
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Past service cost - the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions whose 
effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years - debited to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services in the CI&ES as part of the service costs; 
 
Interest expense on the defined benefit obligation - the interest on the present 
value of liabilities and interest on the net changes in those liabilities during the year 
calculated using the discount rate at the start of the period debited to the Pensions 
interest expense/income on the net liability in the CI&ES; 
 
Interest income on assets - the interest income applied to the asset and net changes 
in the asset during the year - credited to the pensions interest expense/income on the 
net liability in the CI&ES; 
 
Gains or losses on settlements and curtailments - the result of actions to relieve 
the Authority of liabilities or events that reduce the expected future service or accrual 
of benefits of employees - debited or credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services in the CI&ES; 
 
Actuarial gains and losses - changes in the net pensions liability  that arise because 
events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or 
because the actuaries have updated their assumptions - debited to the Pensions 
Reserve; and 
 
Contributions paid to the pension fund - cash paid as employer's contributions to 
the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense. 
 
In relation to the retirement benefits, statutory provision requires the General Fund 
balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Combined Authority to the 
Pension Fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated 
according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve 
to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with 
debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts 
payable that are unpaid at the year-end.  The balance that arises on the Pensions 
Reserve thereby measures the adverse impact to the General Fund of being required 
to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are 
earned by employees. 
 

XII. PROVISIONS 
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Combined Authority has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect 
is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. A provision for restructuring is 
recognised when management has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, 
and the restructuring has either commenced or has been announced publicly. In 
accordance with the Combined Authority’s environmental policy and applicable legal 
requirements, a provision for site restoration in respect of contaminated land is 
recognised when the land is contaminated. Provisions for environmental issues are 
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judgemental by their nature and more difficult to estimate when they relate to sites no 
longer directly controlled by the Combined Authority. The Combined Authority has 
taken a consistent approach to estimating environmental provisions. 
 

XIII. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS 
The Combined Authority presents certain items separately as ‘exceptional’. These are 
items, which in management’s judgement, need to be disclosed by virtue of their size 
and incidence in order for the user to obtain a proper understanding of the financial 
information. The determination of which items are separately disclosed as exceptional 
items requires a significant degree of judgement. 
 

XIV. TAXATION 
Corporation, Income and Capital Gains Tax 
The West Yorkshire Combined Authority is exempt from Corporation, Income and 
Capital Gains tax by virtue of regulations section 74 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988.  
 
Value Added Tax (VAT) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT except: 
- Irrecoverable VAT on the purchase of assets or services is recognised as an 

expense in the income statement. 
 
-  Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included. 
 
The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority is 
included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 
 

XV. DEBTORS 
Debtors are adjusted for doubtful debts which are provided for with known 
uncollectable debts being written off. 

 
XVI. LEASED ASSETS 

Assets acquired under finance leases, where substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the assets have passed to the Combined Authority, are capitalised in the 
balance sheet and depreciated over their useful lives. The corresponding lease 
commitment is shown as a liability. Lease payments are analysed between capital and 
interest. The interest element is charged to the income statement over the period of 
the lease and is calculated so that it represents a constant proportion of the lease 
liability. 
 
Rentals payable under operating leases (where the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership remain with the lessor), are charged to the income statement on a straight 
line basis over the lease term. When the lease becomes onerous full provision is made 
of the expected discounted future cost of the lease. 
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XVII. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. The term ‘financial 
instrument’ covers both financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 
Financial Assets  
Financial assets can be classified as cash and cash equivalents (short term deposits) 
trade receivables and loans receivable.  The Combined Authority does not hold 
instruments designated as available-for-sale assets. Financial assets are initially 
recognised at fair value and subsequent measurement depends on their classification 
as follows:- 
 
Cash and cash equivalents: consist of funds placed with banks and other institutions 
with deposit terms of 3 months or less. For the purpose of the cash flow statement, 
cash and cash equivalents are as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 
 
Loans and receivables: Consist of non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments not quoted in an active market.  Such assets are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. This means for most of the 
loans advanced by the Combined Authority the amount presented in the balance sheet 
is the principal plus accrued interest, with the exception of soft loans where a present 
value calculation of future cashflows discounted at the higher effective interest rate is 
undertaken.  Gains and losses are recognised in the Income and Expenditure 
Statement when the assets are amortised, derecognised or impaired. 
 
Trade and other receivables: recognised and carried at invoice or contract value less 
an allowance for any amounts which may not be collectable.  Should an amount 
become uncollectable, it is written off to the income statement in the period in which it 
is recognised. 
 
Impairment of financial assets: the Combined Authority assesses at each period end 
whether there is any evidence that a financial asset, or group of assets, is impaired.  
Financial assets are impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of one or more 
events that will negatively impact future expected cash flows, and the impact can be 
reliably estimated.  Objective evidence may be that a debtor is experiencing financial 
difficulty to the extent that cash flows are, or are likely to be, negatively impacted.  If 
such objective evidence exists, then the financial asset is impaired to the extent of the 
present value of estimated cash flow shortfall.  The amount of the allowance for 
impairment is recorded separately to the asset, and written off against income. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the appropriate cash flows have been 
received, or when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired. 
 
Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities can be classified as loans and borrowings and trade and other 
payables and are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent measurement of 
liabilities depends on their classification as follows: 
Loans and borrowings: non-derivative financial liabilities with fixed or determinable 
payments not quoted in an active market.  Such interest-bearing liabilities are carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  Gains and losses are 
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recognised in the Income and Expenditure Statement when the liabilities are 
amortised, derecognised or impaired. 
 
Trade and other payables: recognised and carried at invoice or contract value.  Should 
an amount become non-payable, it is written back to the Statement of Income and 
Expenditure in the period in which it is recognised. 
 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the appropriate cash flow obligations have 
been discharged, expired or otherwise cancelled.  
 
Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the Balance 
Sheet, if and only if there is an enforceable legal right to offset, and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis in order to realise the assets and discharge the liabilities 
simultaneously. 
 

XVIII. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION 
All foreign currency income and expenses are translated at the rate ruling on the day 
of the transaction with the resultant profit or loss recognised immediately in the 
revenue account.  All foreign currency assets and liabilities in the balance sheet are 
translated at the Balance Sheet date. 
 

XIX. CONTINGENT LIABILITY 
Contingent Liabilities: A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that 
gives the Combined Authority a possible obligation whose existence will only be 
confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within 
the control of the Combined Authority. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances 
where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
reliably. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note 
to the accounts. 
 

XX. EVENTS AFTER  THE BALANCE SHEET  DATE 
The Statement of Accounts are to be authorised for issue by the Chief Financial Officer 
by 31 July 2018. Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial 
statements or notes. Where events taking place before this date provided information 
about conditions existing at 31 March 2018, the figures in the financial statements and 
notes will be adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of the information 
(adjusting events). Events indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period 
are not adjusted (non-adjusting events). Where these events have a material effect 
disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial 
effect. 
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XXI. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES , 

ESTIMATES AND ERRORS 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to 
correct a material error. Changes in estimation techniques are accounted for 
prospectively and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practice or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect 
of transactions, other events and conditions on the Combined Authority's financial 
position or performance. Changes are made retrospectively by adjusting opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
 

XXII. CONSOLIDATION OF JOINT VENTURE 
The concept of materiality has been considered in respect of the consolidation of 
Yorcard Ltd into the Combined Authority's accounts.  Materiality is determined as an 
omission or misstatement that may influence an economic decision of the user of the 
accounts. On this basis the management have adopted a policy to exclude the Yorcard 
Ltd Joint Venture from full consolidation but have disclosed in note 24 the financial 
performance and position in accordance with IAS31 "Interests in Joint ventures". 
 

2. The Account 
The CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting based on International 
Financial Reporting Standards in the United Kingdom 2017/18 (IFRS based code): 
The IFRS based code requires all authorities who have a group interest in another 
organisation to produce group accounts based on IFRS 3 business combinations and 
IAS 27 consolidated and separate financial statements except where interpretations 
or adaptions for public sector apply. The accounts of the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority however have not been prepared as group accounts reflecting that the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority is a single entity with a small joint venture which is not 
consolidated within the financial statements as disclosed at note 24. 
 

3. Capital Expenditure and Financing 
The combined Authority has a statutory obligation to make adequate provision to meet 
its liabilities in respect of capital expenditure financed by external borrowing. The 
method of calculating the provision is defined by statute. For 2017/18 the amount is 
£3.254m.  
The provision has been charged to service revenue accounts as a depreciation charge 
for fixed assets related to that service. The balance has been transferred from the 
Capital Adjustment Account to the General Fund Balance to ensure that the charge to 
the amount met from Government Grant and Local Taxation equates to the Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP). 
 
The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table 
below (including the value of assets acquired under finance leases), together with the 
resources that have been used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is to be 
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financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are used by the Combined 
Authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing 
Requirement, a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the 
Authority that has yet to be financed. 

 
 

The capital financing requirement decreased in 2017/18 by the level of provision for 
the repayment of debt as there was no increase in the requirement to borrow to fund 
capital expenditure. 

 
4. Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

The objective of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis is to demonstrate how the 
funding available to the authority for the year has been used in providing services in 
comparison with those resources consumed in accordance with general accepted 
accounting practices.  

A disclosure on the nature of expenses is presented as recommended by the Code. 
Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices 
is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
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4 (a). Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

 
 

4 (b). Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
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4 (c). Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 

 
 

5. Disposal of Fixed Assets 

There was no disposal of fixed assets at the year end 31st March 2018. 

 

6. Financing Income and Costs 

 
 

7. Pension Costs 

7.1 Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 

The Combined Authority participates in the West Yorkshire Pension Fund, 
administered by Bradford Metropolitan District Council. This is a funded defined benefit 
scheme, meaning that the Combined Authority and their employees pay contributions 
into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension’s liabilities with 
investment assets. The contribution rate for 2017/18 is 14.6% (14.6% for 2018/19), 
and the deficit lump sums are £1.215m and £1.254m for 2017/18 and 2018/19 
respectively. 
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7.2 Capital Cost of Discretionary Increase in Pension Payments 

The Combined Authority is required to disclose the capital cost of discretionary 
increases in pension payments, which related to the award of added years on the early 
retirement of employees. Separate disclosure is required for the in year discretionary 
awards and the ongoing costs of previous years discretionary payments. The capital 
costs relating to the awards of discretionary added years are set out below: 

 
A large proportion of the pension costs in respect of former employees is in respect of 
staff transferred to Yorkshire Rider Limited (now First West Yorkshire), as explained in 
the Authority’s accounting policy note on pension costs. 

7.3 Pension Disclosures required under ISA19 

The Combined Authority's West Yorkshire Pension Fund liabilities have been 
assessed by AON Hewitt Ltd, an independent firm of actuaries. Liabilities have been 
assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of the 
pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality 
rates, salary levels etc.  

The main assumptions used: 

 
Mortality assumptions 

Post retirement mortality (retirement in normal health) :-
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As part of the latest 2013 actuarial valuation the mortality experience was analysed 
across the fund over a 3 year period and assumptions have been amended regarding 
life expectancy. The mortality allowance for future improvements uses the Continuous 
Mortality Investigation (CMI) Mortality Projections model with the model updated 
annually to reflect the latest emerging experience. This means there will continue to be 
regular changes to the assumptions for future improvements in mortality rates as new 
data is taken into account. 

Assets in the West Yorkshire Pension Fund are valued at fair value, principally market 
value for investments, and consist of the following categories set out below. The latest 
valuation of the pension scheme proportion as applied to the Combined Authority is 
rolled forward for 31 March 2018 (showing the proportion of assets between the classes 
of investment)  and are as follows:- 

 
 

7.4 Reconciliation of unfunded/funded status to Balance Sheet 
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7.5 Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities 

 
 

7.6 Reconciliation of fair value of scheme assets 
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7.7 The amounts recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

 
 

7.8 Estimated pension expense in future periods 

This is an estimate of the charges to the surplus or deficit on the income and 
expenditure account in future periods, based on the assumptions as at 31 March 2018. 
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7.9 Sensitivity Analysis 

The sensitivity analysis showing the impact of changing key actuarial assumptions on 
the present value of the funded defined benefit obligation as at 31 March 2018 and the 
projected service cost for the year ending 31 March 2019 is set out below. Only the 
assumptions mentioned are altered all other assumptions remain the same. There is 
no sensitivity for unfunded benefits on materiality grounds. 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Funded LGPS benefits (Combined Authority)

Adjustment to discount rate +0.1%pa Base Figure -0.1%pa
Present value of total obligation £000's 152,755 154,954 157,185
% change in present value of total obligation -1.4% 1.4%
Projected service cost £000's 4,072 4,185 4,300
Approximate % change in projected service cost -2.7% 2.8%

Adjustment to rate of increase in salaries +0.1%pa Base Figure -0.1%pa
Present value of total obligation £000's 155,420 154,954 154,492
% change in present value of total obligation 0.3% -0.3%
Projected service cost £000's 4,185 4,185 4,185
Approximate % change in projected service cost 0.0% 0.0%

Adjustment to pension increase rate and the rate
of revaluation of pension accounts +0.1%pa Base Figure -0.1%pa
Present value of total obligation £000's 156,715 154,954 153,214
% change in present value of total obligation 1.1% -1.1%
Projected service cost £000's 4,300 4,185 4,072
Approximate % change in projected service cost 2.8% -2.7%

Adjustment to mortality age rating assumption -1 year Base Figure +1 year
Present value of total obligation £000's 159,648 154,954 150,286
% change in present value of total obligation 3.0% -3.0%
Projected service cost £000's 4,350 4,185 4,021
Approximate % change in projected service cost 4.0% -3.9%

Funded LGPS benefits (First Pension Recharge)

Adjustment to discount rate +0.1%pa Base Figure -0.1%pa
Present value of total obligation £000's 54,047 54,792 55,547
% change in present value of total obligation -1.4% 1.4%

Adjustment to pension increase rate and the rate
of revaluation of pension accounts +0.1%pa Base Figure -0.1%pa
Present value of total obligation £000's 56,589 554,792 53,018
% change in present value of total obligation 3.3% -3.2%

Adjustment to mortality age rating assumption -1 year Base Figure +1 year
Present value of total obligation £000's 56,452 54,792 53,141
% change in present value of total obligation 3.0% -3.0%
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8    Government and Other Grant Income 

 The Combined Authority credited the following grants and contributions to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement against the appropriate provision 
of services: 

 
9    Non-Specific Grant Income 

    The Combined Authority credited the following grants to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement under non-specific grant income. 
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The funding for the provision of rail services under the franchising arrangements was 
no longer paid directly to the Authority from April 2017. The Combined Authority 
received the contribution to its administration costs. The amounts received as follows: 

 
 

10  Officers’ Remuneration and Members Allowances 

a)  Employee costs 

 
Members’ Allowances and expenses: the total members’ allowances paid in the year 
to 31March 2018 was £146,112 (£146,240 at 31 March 2017) 

 (b)  Average number of employees 

 
(c)  Unused holiday entitlement 

 
 

The Combined Authority's policy on flexi-leave carried over is that it does not give rise 
to a financial entitlement. 
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(d) The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires local authorities to disclose 
Information on their employees’ remuneration in three sections. Full details are 
required for senior employees who have a role in the overall management of the 
council or who occupy certain statutory posts, and whose annual salary is above 
£50,000. Those senior officers whose salary is above £150,000 are required to be 
named. 
 
In addition two summary disclosures are required, covering the numbers of other staff 
whose total remuneration (i.e. salary plus pension etc.) is above £50,000, and the 
number and value of all exit packages agreed during the year. 

  Senior Employees 

The following table gives details of the remuneration for senior officers (as defined 
above) with an annual salary of above £50,000: 

 
The Chair of Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership (LEP) is an independent 

member, an annual fee of £60k was paid to the Chair on IR35 basis. 
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Other employees 

The following table gives the numbers of employees whose total remuneration is above 
£50,000 but who are not included in the detailed disclosure for senior employees given 
above. 

 
 

Costs of redundancies and other leavers 

Termination benefits were paid by the Combined Authority arising from the termination 
of employment incurring liabilities of £239,041 in 2017/18 (£68,483 2016/17). The exit 
package payable included voluntary redundancy payments and enhanced pension 
benefits payable arising from the re-structuring and rationalisation of specific business 
areas. 
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11 Property, Plant & Equipment 

(a) Previously a revaluation of the Authority's On-Street Furniture was carried out by the 
Infrastructure Manager as an internal expert at 31 March 2008. All On-Street Furniture 
was included in the revaluation. The basis of the valuation was depreciated 
replacement cost as these assets are deemed to be specialised. 

  The On-street furniture assets under IFRS code are re-classified as infrastructure 
assets and valued at historical cost deemed to be the value at 1 April 2007 adjusted 
for subsequent depreciation or impairment.  As the valuation method used at 31 March 
2008 was on a depreciated replacement cost basis this acts as a suitable proxy for 
historical cost. 

A revaluation of the Combined Authority’s non-infrastructure land and buildings was 
carried out by an MRICS qualified valuer of Lambert Smith Hampton, a firm of external 
Chartered Surveyors.  The full revaluation was carried out as at 31 March 2015 on an 
Existing Use Value (EUV) basis in accordance with IAS16.  

The Combined Authority have considered the impairment of fixed assets in 
accordance with IAS 36 and after taking into account factors since external surveyors 
reviewed the property portfolio can identify no circumstances or events that would 
affect the carrying values of the assets. A desktop revaluation by the external 
surveyors as at 31 March 2018 confirmed this position. 

(b) Assets Held for Sale 

The Combined Authority has identified Crow Nest Lane office and warehouse facility 
as an asset to be classified as held for sale as the property is being actively marketed 
for sale in its current state and a sale is highly probable.  The asset was held in non-
infrastructure land and buildings and revalued at 31 March 2017, and it was sold in 
April 2017.  
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(c) Donated Assets Account 

The CIPFA code introduces the concept of Donated Assets where assets have been 
acquired for less than their fair value. The code stipulates that the difference between 
the fair value of the asset and the consideration paid shall be recognised immediately 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as income, or in the event 
that the transfer has conditions, recognised in the Donated Assets Account until such 
time as the conditions have been met. The Combined Authority's leased bus stations 
and land at Apperley Bridge (finance leases on-balance sheet) meet the criteria of 
Donated Assets with conditions attached, as failure to fulfil the conditions on an on-
going basis  would result in the assets being returned to the relevant councils.  These 
assets were received at little or no cost but are recognised on the balance sheet at fair 
value to reflect the true benefit of these assets with a corresponding reserve created 
in the form of a Donated Assets Account. The Donated Assets Account also 
recognises revaluation gains arising before conversion to historical cost basis as at 1 
April 2007. After initial recognition Donated Assets are categorised as either 
Infrastructure Assets and are valued at historical cost or for Non-Infrastructure Assets 
are valued at current value. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



51 
 

(d) The Movements of Fixed Assets 
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12 Related Party Transactions  

The Combined Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties 
in accordance with IAS 24 "Related party transactions”. Related parties are bodies or 
individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Authority or to be controlled 
or influenced by the Authority. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess 
the extent to which it might have been constrained in its ability to operate independently 
or might have secured the ability to limit another party's ability to bargain freely with the 
Combined Authority. 

Members  

The Combined Authority requires Members to complete a declaration of members’ 
disclosable pecuniary interests. This information is used to prepare this note. All 
members have at least two roles under the Local Government Act 1985 in that they are 
members of one of the five constituent levying Metropolitan District Councils or City of 
York Council and are appointed to the Combined Authority or co-opted to one of its 
committees.  

The Combined Authority has a number of financial transactions with related parties. The 
significant revenue transactions, not separately disclosed elsewhere or covering basic 
areas of expenditure such as rates and other service charges are: 

The UK Government exerts significant influence through legislation and the grant funding 
it provides to the Combined Authority. Government grant funding received is disclosed 
in Note 8 and 9. 

- The Combined Authority receives financing through its Levy and contributions to the 
economic activities of the City Region from the District Councils. 

- The Combined Authority provides agency services for Education transport for which 
they are paid fees. 

- The Combined Authority received Local Transport Block Funding of which an allocation 
was paid to the District Councils. 

The figures for 2017/18 are set out below 

 

Amounts received by the Combined Authority

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Bradford MDC 1.7 1.7 23.7 24.0 0.10 0.12
Calderdale MDC 1.0 1.0 9.1 9.2 0.05 0.05
Kirklees MDC 0.4 0.4 18.6 18.8 0.10 0.10
Leeds City Council 1.5 1.8 34.1 34.3 0.19 0.19
Wakefield MDC 2.1 1.9 15.4 15.6 0.08 0.08

6.7 6.8 100.9 101.9 0.52 0.54

Amounts paid by the Combined Authority

2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17 2017/18 2016/17
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Bradford MDC 8.8 7.1 0.36 1.10 - -
Calderdale MDC 5.2 4.7 0.12 0.57 - -
Kirklees MDC 8.4 7.9 0.53 0.50 - 0.1
Leeds City Council 12.5 12.2 2.04 1.09 - 3.1
Wakefield MDC 5.7 5.5 5.54 8.86 - -

40.6 37.4 8.59 12.12 - 3.2

Education transport 

LTP Block Funding Transport Fund

    Transport Levy     LCR LEP Funding

Local Growth Fund Loans
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Officers 

As in the case of members, there is a code of conduct governing the disclosure of 
interests held by officers. Under s117 of the Local Government Act 1972, senior officers 
are required to disclose any pecuniary interests they hold.  

Yorcard Ltd is a Joint Venture trading company operated in conjunction with South 
Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive (SYPTE), and is fully disclosed in note 24. 
The Director of Transport Services of the Combined Authority is a board director of 
Yorcard Ltd. 

West Yorkshire Ticketing (TICCO) Ltd administers and develops a range of multi-
operator, multi-modal tickets.  

The Director of Transport Services of the Combined Authority is a Director of TICCO Ltd. 
During the year ended 31 March 2018.  

ITSO Services Ltd is a trading company established to promote the development of 
interoperable smart card applications to public transport. The Director of Transport 
Services of the Combined Authority is a Director of ITSO Services Ltd.  

During the year ended 31 March 2018, there was no transaction between TICCO, ITSO 
and the Combined Authority. 

Payments to Operators 

The Combined Authority makes significant payments to operators funded from the 
transport levy.  These payments to operators fall into the three main categories of 
concessionary fares, subsidised bus services and franchised local rail services.  

Payments for concessionary fares are made in accordance with the Combined 
Authority’s concessionary fares scheme which is based on the reimbursement guidance 
issued by the Department for Transport.  The Combined Authority has entered into three 
year agreements with the major bus operators within the framework of this guidance 
which removes an element of financial risk for all parties.  

Subsidised bus services are secured by the Combined Authority, within the overall 
framework of the Authority’s policies, where they are considered to be socially necessary 
and no commercial service or adequate commercial service exists.  All licensed 
operators are eligible to submit tenders for services required. 

Payments are no longer made to one franchised rail operator for the provision of local 
rail services. 

In accordance with its overall policies the Combined Authority administers a prepaid 
ticket scheme.  The Combined Authority receives revenues from prepaid ticket sales 
which are then pooled and distributed to operators based on passenger journey and 
usage data collected by the Authority.  This prepaid ticket income is included in the 
Authority’s revenue account together with an equivalent amount shown as payment to 
operators 

.  
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13 Exceptional Item 

There were no exceptional items in 2017/18 or in 2016/17. 

 

14 Taxation 

The West Yorkshire Combined Authority is deemed to be a body with the power to issue 
a levy by virtue of regulations under section 74 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988 and is therefore exempt from paying Corporation tax, income tax and capital gains 
tax. 

 

15 Short Term Debtors 

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing financial instruments. There is no 
material difference between the carrying value and the fair value of trade and other 
receivables. 

 

 

 

 

 

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing financial instruments. There is no 
material difference between the carrying value and the fair value of trade and other 
receivables. 

16 Cash & Cash Equivalents 

 

 

 

 

Cash balances include £5.6m held on behalf of third parties.  The liability to repay these 
amounts is included under Trade and Other Payables. 

Cash at bank and short term deposits earn interest at floating rates based on bank 
deposit rates. There is no material difference between the carrying value and fair value 
of cash and cash equivalents. 

 

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Central government bodies 4,615      4,971       
Other Local Authorities 6,859      9,302       
Bodies external to government 14,790    12,048     

Bad debt provision (34) (11)

26,230 26,310     

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Bank Current Accounts 42,891 42,475

42,891 42,475
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17 Long Term Debtors – Loans 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The majority of loans were made under the Governments Growing Places Fund initiative which was set 
up to support key infrastructure projects designed to unlock wider economic growth, create jobs and 
build houses in England. The fund is an important boost for local economies and provides a major 
opportunity for local enterprise partnerships and local authorities to identify and prioritise the 
infrastructure they need for growth. The range of projects being supported include site access/site 
clearance, transport infrastructure, utilities and refurbishment of buildings. 

18 a). Trade and Other Payables 

 

 

 

 

b). Accrued and Deferred Income 

 

 

 

 
Notes 
 
(a) Central government deferred income relates to Grants received in advance where   

conditions have not been met at the year end. 

(b) Other Local Authorities deferred income relates to capital contributions to small   
infrastructure projects that have not yet been complete and conditions remain 
outstanding. 

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing financial instruments. There is no 
material difference between the carrying value and the fair value of trade and other 
payables. 

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Soft Loans
Balance at 1 April 8,228      3,911       
Nominal Value of Loans advanced during year -               4,830
Fair Value Adjustment on Initial recognition -               (584)
Effective interest to write back to carrying value 126 71
Balance at 31 March 8,354 8,228

Other Loans Advanced
Balance at 1 April 18,788    18,912     
Loans transferred -               1,481
Loans repaid (1,286) (2,145)
Impairment of Loan -               (1,460)
Loans advanced during the year 1,928 2,000 
Balance at 31 March  < 1year (4,151) (3,363)
Balance at 31 March  > 1 year 15,279 15,425
Total Long Term Debtor - Loans 23,633 23,654

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Central government bodies 426         3,002       
Other Local Authorities 20,511    15,737     
Bodies external to government 30,944    32,826     

51,881    51,565     

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Central government 22,573 13,233 
Other local authorities 2,888 774 
Bodies external to government 192 200 

25,653 14,207 
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19 Loans Outstanding 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20 Capital Expenditure and Financing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21   Financial Instruments  

Financial liabilities, financial assets represented by loans, creditors and trade receivables 
and short-term debtors are carried in the balance sheet at amortised cost. Their fair value 
is assessed as the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current 
transaction between willing parties.     

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing financial instruments. The short 
term nature of these instruments means there is no material difference between the 
carrying value and fair value.   

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Lender:-
Public Works Loans Board 50,728    51,233     
Other Market Loans 25,320    25,320     
Short Term Loans -            

76,048    76,553     
Maturity:-
Loans repayable within 12 months 1,048      1,553       
1-2 years - -
2-5 years - -
5-10 years - -
More than 10 years 75,000    75,000     

76,048    76,553     

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Capital Expenditure
Fixed Assets 2,736        4,095      
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 140,191    138,478 
Long-term investments and capital loans 1,928        4,431      

144,855    147,004 
Capital Financing
Borrowing (credit approvals) - -
Capital receipts - -
Government grants and other contributions 140,071    141,145 
Other revenue contributions 4,784 5,859      

144,855    147,004 
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The Combined Authority has considered the balance sheet carrying values i.e. 
amortised costs of financial instruments of the Combined Authority. It is required to 
disclose the fair value and carrying value for those financial instruments whose carrying 
value is not a reasonable approximation for fair value. In the Combined Authority's 
books it is only the Combined Authority's loan portfolio and short term investment which 
fall into this category. 

21.1 Fair Value hierarchy for financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured 
at fair value 

 
  

Quoted prices in Other significant Significant
active markets for observable unobservable

identical assets inputs  inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Financial Liabilities
financial liabilities held at
amortised cost:
Loans/borrowings - 113,657 - 113,657
(PWLB and other market loans)
Trade payables - - 77,284 77,284
Total - 113,657 77,284 190,941
Financial assets
Loans and receivables:
Soft loans to third parties - 8,359 8,359
Other loans and receivables - 18,268 26,289 44,557
Short term Investments - 132,772 132,772
Total - 159,399 26,289 185,688

Quoted prices in Other significant Significant
active markets for observable unobservable
identical assets inputs  inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Financial Liabilities
financial liabilities held at
amortised cost:
Loans/borrowings - 114,921 - 114,921
(PWLB and other market loans) 0
Trade payables - - 65,773 65,773
Total - 114,921 65,773 180,694
Financial assets
Loans and receivables:
Soft loans to third parties - 8,656 - 8,656
Other loans and receivables - 16,892 26,425 43,317
Short term Investments - 98,331 - 98,331
Total 123,879 26,425 150,304

2016/17

2017/18

 
 
21.2 Loans Advanced and Borrowings 
 

Fair value is determined by calculating the Net Present Value of future cash flows, thus 
estimating the value of future payments in today's terms.  This is a widely accepted and 
commonly used valuation technique.  The discount rate used should be equal to the 
current rate for a similar loan from a comparable lender.  This will be the market rate 
applicable on the date of valuation for a loan with the same outstanding period to 
maturity. 
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However, it may be unlikely that the future cash flows of a loan will fall in equal time 
periods from the date of valuation, so adjustments are made to each discount factor in 
order to account for the timing inequality. 

  
The purpose of the fair value disclosure is primarily to provide a comparison with the 
carrying value, which includes accrued interest as at the balance sheet date, therefore 
we have included accrued interest in the fair value calculation. 

 
The discount rates used for the evaluation were obtained by West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority from Capita.  Capita is a leading and independent provider of capital financing, 
treasury advisory and strategic advisory consulting services to the public sector. 

 
Assumptions used, which do not have a material effect on the fair value evaluation are: 
interest is calculated using a 365 day basis; interest is paid on the maturity date; no 
adjustment is made to the interest value and date where a relevant date occurs on a 
non-working day. 

 
The fair value of financial liabilities and financial assets included in level 2 in the table 
above have been arrived at using discounted cashflow analysis as described above, the 
key input being the discount rate (the discount rate used by Capita for the GPF loans 
advanced has been modified using a risk adjusted EC reference rate as opposed to the 
PWLB new loan rate).  

 
21.3 Financial instruments not measured at fair value 
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21.4 Management of risks arising from financial instruments 

There are a number of risks associated with financial instruments to which the Authority 
is necessarily exposed. However the Combined Authority monitors and seeks to manage 
these risks in order to minimise the potential for losses to occur. 

Credit risk is the risk that amounts due to the Combined Authority may not be received.  
Almost all of the Combined Authority's loans and investments are made for treasury 
management purposes, to generate income from available balances. The parameters 
within which these investments are made are set out within the approved Treasury 
Management Policy. The effect of this policy is to restrict as far as is practicable the 
Combined Authority's exposure to risk from the failure of a financial institution. It ensures 
that deposits are placed only with limited numbers of financial institutions whose credit 
rating is independently assessed as being sufficiently secure.  The term and maximum 
deposit is also restricted to reduce risk exposure. The Combined Authority has exposure 
to credit risk on the Debtor Loans advanced to third parties. The Growing Places Fund 
Loans are riskier commercial loans with the interest rate reflective of the borrower’s credit 
status and security provided. The financial status and credit score of the companies are 
regularly reviewed and monitored in order to minimise the instances of loss. The Local 
Growth Fund loans are to District Authorities who are deemed to be low risk on the basis 
they are backed by government and required by law to make provision for loan 
repayments. 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Combined Authority may not have sufficient cash 
available to meet its day to day obligations to meet payments. The Combined Authority 
has access to borrowings from the Public Works Loans Board and commercial lenders 
to meet long term spending and shorter term cashflow requirements and these 
arrangements provide the appropriate level of finance to support the Combined 
Authority's current and future requirements. Also measures exposure to adverse rates. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cashflows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The majority of the Combined Authority's 
long term lending is at fixed interest rates but it also borrows some of its money in the 
form of lender option borrower option loans (LOBOs). This mix of lending assists the 
Authority in taking advantage of changes to interest rates and it constantly reviews the 
potential for refinancing debt at more favourable rates. 

Effective 2017/18 2016/17
interest rate Maturity £000's £000's

Current 0 0

Non- Current
Public Works Loan Board 3.70% Jan 2056 5,000 5,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.40% Jan 2052 5,000 5,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.40% Jul 2054 8,000 8,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.40% Jun 2053 8,000 8,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.55% Jun 2052 4,000 4,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.55% Apr 2055 6,000 6,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.55% Apr 2056 6,000 6,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.55% Apr 2057 8,000 8,000
PWLB - EIP 2.81% Jun 2017 0 500
Barclays - Fixed Rate Loan's (previously LOBO's) 3.97% May 2065 5,000 5,000
Barclays - Fixed Rate Loan's (previously LOBO's) 3.80% Aug 2065 5,000 5,000
Barclays - Fixed Rate Loan's (previously LOBO's) 3.99% Oct 2066 5,000 5,000
Barclays - Fixed Rate Loan's (previously LOBO's) 4.30% Dec 2076 5,000 5,000
Barclays - Fixed Rate Loan's (previously LOBO's) 4.32% May 2077 5,000 5,000

75,000 75,500

Total 75,000 75,500
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The Combined Authority is also affected by fluctuations in shorter term interest rates as 
this impacts on the interest that can be earned in the year on deposits. This is carefully 
monitored and opportunities to secure advantageous interest rates are considered. 

The Combined Authority is required to disclose the impact that a hypothetical change in 
market interest rates during the year would have had on its recognised gains and losses.  
It should be noted that had interest rates been different then in practice different 
decisions would have been taken in relation to rescheduling of debt and new borrowing 
and investment undertaken.  It is not possible to quantify the likely impact of such 
different decisions.  The Authority's interest payable and receivable would have varied 
by a net £1,454k if interest rates varied by 1% in the year. 

The Authority is not exposed to any material currency risk.  

22.  Reserves 

 

 

 

 

22.1 Useable Reserve 

The General Fund balance is a non-earmarked usable reserve and can be applied to 
fund any form of general revenue expenditure that aligns with the policies and objectives 
of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority. The General Fund Balance has a surplus of 
£5.2m at 31 March 2018 (£7.1m 31 March 2017). 

The Total Reserves balance for the Combined Authority includes a Rail Reserve under 
Usable Reserves which recognises the disposal of Rail Rolling stock and Yorkshire 6 
funding surpluses with the reserve totalling £2.075m at 31 March 2018.  The Rail 
Reserve is ear-marked for rail infrastructure investment and is to be held pending future 
investment into the rail projects.  

The Total Reserves balance for the Combined Authority includes a New Generation 
Transport (NGT) Reserve of £0.97m under Usable Reserves at 31 March 2018 (£0.97m 
31 March 2017).  Earmarked for the purpose of delivering the Leeds NGT scheme. In 
May 2016 the Secretary of State announced that the NGT scheme would not be 
approved to progress although the £173.5m allocated to it would be made available for 
public transport in Leeds.  Plans to spend this money will be progressed during 2018 
along with the future utilisation of the NGT reserve. 

In addition the Reserves include the West Yorkshire Transport Fund Reserve to reflect 
additional levy contributions from the Districts to develop strategic transport schemes in 
West Yorkshire. The reserve has a balance of £28.1m at 31 March 2018 (£21.9m 31 
March 17). 

 

 

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Usable Reserves 125,880 105,689
Unusable Reserves (48,770) (47,390)

Total Reserves 77,110 58,300
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Capital Grants Unapplied 

  

 

 

 

The Capital Grants Unapplied Account recognises capital grants received where 
conditions have been met but the application of the capital grants to expenditure on the 
acquisition, construction and enhancement of non-current assets has yet to be incurred.   

Useable Capital Receipt Reserve 

 

 

 

 

Income from the disposal of fixed assets is credited to the usable capital receipts 
reserve. The usable element can be applied to the financing of new capital expenditure 
or remain in this account. The following table shows the transactions on the reserve 
during 2017/18. 

22.2 Unusable Reserve 

Capital Adjustment Account 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Opening Balance 73,608 36,096

Capital receipts unapplied 14,658 37,512

Balance carried Forward 88,266 73,608

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Opening Balance -                   -                

Capital receipts unapplied 1,242 -                

Balance carried Forward 1,242 -                

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Opening Balance 13,023 8,631
13,023 8,631

Revenue Funded from Capital
Under statute (141,208) (139,336)
Depreciation (4,675) (4,917)
Revaluation loss on Asset Held For Sale -               (50)

Statutory provision for the financing of
Capital Investment (MRP) 3,254 3,389 
Capital receipts applied 144,855 147,004 

Impairment of Growing Places Fund (GPF) Loans                     - (1,698)

GPF Loans replayments (1,557) 0
Disposal of Asset Held for Sale (600) 0
Balance at the end of the Year 13,092 13,023 
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The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for 
financing the acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory 
provisions. The account is debited with the cost of capital investment, the depreciation 
charge and impairment losses, and credited with capital grants and contributions 
receivable and amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the costs of acquisition, 
construction and enhancement. 

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 

 

 

 

 

 

The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising 
from the different arrangements for accounting for income and expenses relating to 
certain financial instruments and for bearing losses or benefiting from gains per statutory 
provisions. The Combined Authority uses the Account to manage premiums paid and 
discounts received on the early redemption of loans. Premiums/discounts are 
debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when they 
are incurred, but reversed out of the General Fund Balance to the Account in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account also 
recognises the impact of writing down soft loans using the effective interest rate method 
based on PWLB rates to discount soft loans. 

Pensions Reserve 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Pension Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for employment benefits as per IAS19 and for funding such 
benefits in accordance with statutory requirements. The debit balance on the pension 
reserve recognises the shortfall in resources set aside to meet the benefits earned by 
past and current employees. The statutory arrangements will ensure that sufficient 
funding will be set aside to meet these benefits by the time they are due to be paid. 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Balance at 1 April (1,623) (1,034)
Premiums incurred in the year (82) (81)
Discounts received in year 7 6
Effective Interest rate adjustment- Soft Loans 126 (514)
Balance at 31 March (1,572) (1,623)

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Balance at 1 April (72,384) (61,162)

Actuarial gains and (losses) on pension assets and (935) (10,401)
Liabilities

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits 
debited or credited to the Surplus or (Deficit) on 
the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement (5,801) (4,718)

Net increase in liability on disposal/acquisition
Employers pension contributions 4,374 3,897
Balance at 31 March (74,746) (72,384)
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 Revaluation Reserve 

  

 

 

 

 The revaluation reserve contains gains made on the increases in the value of Property 
Plant and Equipment. The balance on the reserve is only available for use when assets 
with accumulated gains are, revalued downwards or impaired, disposed of and when 
gains are used in the provision of services and gains are consumed through 
depreciation. 

 Donated Assets Account 

 Donated assets are those that were received at little or no cost to the Combined Authority 
but are recognised on the balance sheet at fair value to reflect the true benefit of these 
assets. The Donated Asset account is a corresponding reserve that recognises the true 
value of the asset (see note 11c). 

23.  Provisions 

 Provisions are established to meet liabilities or losses which are likely or certain to be 
incurred, but the amounts or timings are uncertain. Provisions during the year are 
analysed as follows:- 

  

 

 

 

 The Combined Authority as at 31 March 2017 has provided for liabilities relating to the 
now insolvent company Mutual Municipal Insurance Ltd representing the potential 
clawback of claims made by the former West Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive 
in previous years. There were no further provisions for organisational restructure at 31 
March 2018 as specified in IAS37. 

24.  Joint Venture 

 At 31 March 2018 the Combined Authority had the following Joint Venture: 

 Yorcard Ltd 

The joint venture is a trading company which was incorporated in England on the 2 
March 2007. It is limited by guarantee with two subscribers, West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority and South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive with control shared 
equally under a contractual arrangement. 

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

At 1 April 189 174
Arising during year 7 15
Utilised in year - -
At 31 March 196 189 

 

2017/18 2016/17 
£000's £000's 

Balance at 1 April  12,925 12,329 
Surplus on revaluation 864 596 
Balance at 31 March  13,789 12,925 
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Yorcard Ltd performs transaction processing services for smartcard ticketing in West 
and South Yorkshire. 

After considering the materiality of the Joint Venture management have agreed not to 
consolidate Yorcard Ltd into the Combined Authority's accounts. The performance and 
financial position of  the Combined Authority's share of Yorcard Ltd is disclosed below in 
accordance with IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities :- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25.  Audit Fees 

The Code requires a summary of the fees payable to the council’s appointed auditors 
in relation to the financial year: 

  

 

 

 

26.  Financial Commitments 

 (a)   Capital Commitments 

 

         2017/18     2016/17  
         £000's     £000's  
              
Contracted For but not Provided in the Accounts 174,904   192,814 
Authorised but not Contracted For  9,273   20,641 
        184,177   213,455 

 

Yorcard
2017/18 2016/17

£000's £000's

Turnover and other income 953 1,474 
Expenses (953) (1,474)
Profit before Tax -                   -                
Taxation -                   -
Profit after Tax -                   -

Fixed Assets -
Current Assets 522 649 
Liabilities due within 1yr (512) (639)
Liabilities due after 1yr or more 0 

Net Assets 10 10 

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Audit Services 33                33             
Other Services -               2               

33                35             
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Capital Commitments Contracted For but not Provided in the Accounts reflect capital 
projects where contracts have been signed but work not yet commenced.  

 Capital Commitments Authorised but not contracted for reflects the approval of large 
scale capital schemes such as the Leeds District Heat Network project £7m, Housing& 
Regeneration projects £7.5m and West Yorkshire Transport Fund schemes of £2.6m 
which have not yet been contracted out in the year ended 31st March 2018. 

(b)   Revenue Commitments - Operating Leases 

 The Combined Authority has a number of bus contracts that incorporate a lease under 
IFRIC4. The Combined Authority has a number of contracts with operators that convey 
the right to use specific assets in return for a series of payments to deliver services under 
the Combined Authority's tendered service obligations. The minimum lease payments 
are substantially for service provision with a small proportion for the rental of the assets. 
The fact that the life of the contracts are substantially shorter than the asset's economic 
useful life means these contracts are deemed to be operating leases. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 The Combined Authority has a number of contracts for the operation of Mybus school 
services that are operated as service concession arrangements under IFRIC12. The 
Authority awards the contract to operators to provide a service for the public regulating 
the level of service, price and infrastructure provided. The school buses that form the 
infrastructure to deliver the service are initially recognised on the balance sheet at fair 
value. The service element of the arrangement is expensed through the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement and the minimum lease payments are scheduled 
below: 

  

 

  

 

 

27 Contingent Liabilities 

 The Combined Authority had a contingent liability at 1 April 2017 arising from possible 
claims relating land and property acquisitions under the New Generation Transport 
scheme that was rejected in 2016. The liability continues at 31 March 2018 but it is not 
possible or practical to disclose an estimate of the financial effect, amount and timing 
due to the ongoing uncertainty. 

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Minimum lease payments under operating 
leases recognised in the year : 2,338 1,826

              Within 1 year 2,085 1,359
              Within 2-5 years 1,422 2,166
              Beyond 5 years - -

3,507 3,525

 

2017/18 2016/17
£000's £000's

Minimum lease payments under IFRIC 12 
recognised in the year : 5,230 5,487

              Within 1 year 5,197 5,575
              Within 2-5 years 21,848 23,133
              Beyond 5 years 2,377 -

29,422 28,708
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28 Going Concern 

 The accounts of the Combined Authority have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
The medium term finance strategy and budget approved by the Combined Authority in 
February sets out the proposed funding of the Combined Authority for the next 3 years 
and formally approved the budget for the forthcoming year 2018/19. The budget and 
strategy ensure that the Combined Authority set the level of levy that allows services and 
functions to continue to operate at a level that is aligned to the policies and objectives of 
the organisation and ensures the reserves are maintained so as to mitigate risks to the 
organisation. The budget and strategy make suitable provision to address the pension 
deficit. As an Authority we work with the West Yorkshire Pension Fund and Actuary to 
ensure contributions are realistic and sustainable. Additionally a 3 year capital 
programme complete with capital funding/finance is agreed as part of this process. 

29  Events after the Balance Sheet Date 

 There have been no other adjustments to the financial statements for events after the 
balance sheet date. 

30  New accounting standards not yet implemented 

 The Code requires local authorities to disclose the likely impact of any new accounting 
standards which have been issued as at the balance sheet date but which will not apply 
to local authorities’ accounts until subsequent financial years. The 2018/19 Code is not 
expected to introduce any changes to accounting policies which would have any 
significant impact on the authority’s 2018/19 figures. 
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